RECEIVED

OCT 16 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Greenwood County Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Frank R. Addy Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000952

State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

v.

Dazzelle Demareus Smith.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WILLIAM G. YARBOROUGH, III, Esq.
LAUREN CAROLE HOBBS, Esq.
William G. Yarborough III, Attorney at Law, LLC
308 West Stone Avenue Greenville, SC 29609
(864) 331-1612 • Fax: (864) 370-0022

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL WHEN A STATE'S WITNESS GAVE A NON-RESPONSIVE ANSWER ON CROSS-EXAMINATION THAT CLEARLY IMPLIED THE APPELLANT HAD A PRIOR CRIMINAL RECORD AND THE RESULTING PREJUDICE WAS NOT CURED BY A CURATIVE INSTRUCTION.

II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING IMPROPER, PREJUDICIAL LAY WITNESS OPINION TESTIMONY BY PERMITTING AN INVESTIGATOR TO OPINE ON ILLICIT DRUG SALES AND PRICING WHEN THE INVESTIGATOR WAS NOT PERMITTED TO TESTIFY AS AN EXPERT WITNESS AND HAD NO INVOLVEMENT IN THE CASE.

III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE SEIZED DURING THE WARRANTLESS SEARCH OF THE VEHICLE WHEN THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES FAILED TO SUPPORT THE PLAIN VIEW EXCEPTION TO THE SEARCH WARRANT REQUIREMENT AND THE BASIS FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO HAVE FOUND PROBABLE CAUSE TO SEARCH IS OTHERWISE INSUFFICIENT.

IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BASED UPON A JUROR'S FAILURE TO DISCLOSE INFORMATION DURING *VOIR DIRE* IF THAT INFORMATION WOULD HAVE TRIGGERED A CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE OR BEEN MATERIAL TO APPELLANT'S DECISION-MAKING IN USING A PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE.

V. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING IMPROPER, PREJUDICIAL, LAY WITNESS OPINION TESTIMONY BY PERMITTING AN INVESTIGATOR TO OPINE ON ILLICIT DRUG SALES AND PRICING WHEN THE INVESTIGATOR WAS NOT PERMITTED TO TESTIFY AS AN EXPERT WITNESS AND HAD NO INVOLVEMENT IN THE CASE.

VI. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BASED UPON A JUROR'S FAILURE TO DISCLOSE INFORMATION DURING *VOIR DIRE* IF THAT INFORMATION WOULD HAVE TRIGGERED A CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE OR BEEN MATERIAL TO APPELLANT'S DECISION-MAKING IN USING A PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE.

VII. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BASED UPON A JUROR'S FAILURE TO DISCLOSE INFORMATION DURING *VOIR DIRE* IF THAT INFORMATION WOULD HAVE TRIGGERED A CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE OR BEEN MATERIAL TO APPELLANT'S DECISION-MAKING IN USING A PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Greenwood County grand jury indicted the Appellant Dazzelle Smith for trafficking cocaine, possession with the intent to distribute (PWID) crack cocaine, and PWID marijuana. (R. pp. 295 – 300). Deputy Solicitor Yates Brown and Assistant Solicitor Micah Black prosecuted the case. Tristen Shaffer, Esquire and Janna Nelson, Esquire represented Appellant. Appellant was tried by jury on October 9th and 10th 2017 before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker. The trial ended in a mistrial because an officer testified that Appellant was charged with trafficking cocaine, third offense.

Appellant was tried by jury a second time on April 9th and 10th, 2018 before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. Deputy Solicitor Yates Brown and Assistant Solicitor Anna Sumner represented the State. The undersigned, William G. Yarborough, III, represented Appellant. The Greenwood County grand jury indicted the Appellant Dazzelle Smith for trafficking cocaine, possession with the intent to distribute (PWID) crack cocaine, and PWID marijuana. The jury found him guilty of all charges. (R. pp. 259 – 260). Appellant was sentenced to twenty-five (25) years imprisonment for the trafficking cocaine charge, twenty (20) years imprisonment for PWID crack cocaine, and ten (10) years imprisonment for PWID marijuana, all to run concurrent and with ninety (90) days credit for time served. (R. pp. 264 – 265; pp. 301 – 303). Appellant was tried by jury on October 9th and 10th 2017 before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker. This appeal follows.

Appellant was tried by jury a second time on April 9th and 10th, 2018 before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. Deputy Solicitor Yates Brown and Assistant Solicitor Anna Sumner represented the State. The undersigned, William G. Yarborough, III, represented Appellant. The Greenwood County grand jury indicted the Appellant Dazzelle Smith for trafficking cocaine, possession with the intent to distribute (PWID) crack cocaine, and PWID marijuana. The jury found him guilty of all charges. (R. pp. 259 – 260). Appellant was sentenced to twenty-five (25) years imprisonment for the trafficking cocaine charge, twenty (20) years imprisonment for PWID crack cocaine, and ten (10) years imprisonment for PWID marijuana, all to run concurrent and with ninety (90) days credit for time served. (R. pp. 264 – 265; pp. 301 – 303). Appellant was tried by jury on October 9th and 10th 2017 before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker. This appeal follows.

201, lines 21 – 25).³ Appellant was then removed from the vehicle and placed under arrest. (R. p. 202, lines 17 – 19). Officers found \$232.00 during a search of his person. (R. p. 166, lines 17 – 19). In the subsequent search of the vehicle, officers found inside the closed glove compartment a yellow plastic bag containing a green leafy substance later identified as marijuana, as well as a Crown Royal liquor bag containing two plastic bags containing white powder, and one baggie of an off-white crystal-like substance. (R. p. 166, lines 1 – 8). Upon opening the center console, officers found a small bag containing a white powdery substance later identified as cocaine, as well as a small baggie of green leafy material later identified as marijuana. (R. p. 166, lines 8 – 11).

There was a total of 228.4 grams of marijuana found in the different compartments during the search of the vehicle. (R. p. 181, line 15 — p. 182, line 7). The cocaine found inside the Crown Royal liquor bag weighed a total of approximately 40.64 grams, and the total weight of crack cocaine was 5.44 grams. (R. pp. 189 – 192).

³ See *infra* pp. 28–31 for a more detailed summary of the stop and search.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL BECAUSE A STATE'S WITNESS GAVE A NON-RESPONSIVE ANSWER ON CROSS-EXAMINATION THAT CLEARLY IMPLIED THE APPELLANT HAD A PRIOR CRIMINAL RECORD, WHICH WAS EXTREMELY PREJUDICIAL AND INCURABLE BY A CURATIVE INSTRUCTION.

Relevant Facts

The State's first witness was Arleen Smith, Appellant's aunt. (R. p. 129). On direct-examination, Arleen testified that the 1997 Lincoln Town Car belonged and was registered to her. (R. p. 130, lines 10 – 16). Arleen testified that she had been allowing Appellant exclusively to use her car for a few months. (R. p. 130, lines 19 – 25; p. 133, lines 6 – 10). Arleen suspected Appellant may have been living out of the car at times, although only a few pairs of shoes or items of clothing were found in the trunk of the car. (R. p. 131, lines 3 – 6). Despite entrusting Appellant to use her car, Arleen did not know her nephew very well, she did not know Appellant's age. (R. p. 130, lines 5 – 6). Arleen testified she had been asleep on "the night when this occurred—when law enforcement found [her] nephew in the vehicle and found the drugs in the car." (R. p. 131, lines 20 – 23). In response to the State's following question as to when she became aware of "what was going on", Arleen began to explain that Appellant's sister had woken her up by calling to inform her that police were outside her home. (R. p. 131, line 24 — p. 132, line 2). Appellant's objection to this line of questioning and the responses was sustained. (R. p. 132, lines 3 – 6). The State thereafter elicited testimony that Arleen had eventually woken up and gone outside, and that the police had eventually returned the car keys to her. (R. p. 132, lines 7 – 12). On cross-examination, Arleen testified that she had not told police or the solicitor Appellant's name for her car. Arleen did not know her nephew very well, she did not know about the information elicited on direct-examination until just a few months earlier, which was

about the information elicited on cross-examination until just a few minutes later, which was long after law enforcement made contact with Arleen about the charges on trial. (R. p. 133, line 22 — p. 134, line 7). Arleen testified she had never said anything about any involvement between the drugs and the car until January 2018 because she had not known what was in her car. (R. p. 134, lines 20 – 24). Arleen reaffirmed that the car belonged and was registered to her on cross-examination. (R. p. 134, lines 13 – 19, line 25 — p. 135, line 4). On direct-examination, Arleen had testified that the car was technically parked in front of her immediate neighbor's house but explained that the houses on Tanyard Avenue are very close together, even "connected." (R. p. 131, lines 14 – 19). In response to the clarifying question on cross-examination: "It was your car parked in front of your house?", Arleen responded with: "Huh-uh. Dazzelle in that car almost -- he was living out of that car all the time. Long before they got him long after law enforcement made contact with Arleen about the charges on trial, on Tanyard. He been arrested on Tanyard three times." (R. p. 135, lines 3–7).

Appellant then immediately moved for a mistrial on the grounds that Arleen's response between the drugs and the car until January 2018 because she had not known what was in her car about Appellant having been arrested on three previous occasions was not responsive to the line of questioning and inadmissible, and the resulting prejudice could not be undone by a curative instruction. (R. p. 135, lines 16 – 23; p. 136, lines 10 – 19; p. 137, lines 14 – 15; p. 137, line 21 — p. 138, line 4). The trial judge ultimately denied the motion for a mistrial, reasoning that although Appellant did not directly or intentionally elicit such a response, the trial judge could theorize how Arleen's testimony was responsive to the line of questioning and that her response was not as prejudicial as the officer's testimony that had caused a mistrial at the first trial. (R. p. 136, line 25 — p. 137, line 13; p. 139, line 24 — p. 140, line 15; p. 143, lines 1 – 23; p. 144, line 20 — p. 145, line 13). The jury was then instructed it could not consider that portion of Arleen's testimony for any purpose. (R. p. 158, lines 1 – 20).

about Appellant having been arrested on three previous occasions was not responsive to the line

Standard of Review

“The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court. The trial court's decision will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.” *State v. Harris*, 382 S.C. 107, 117, 674 S.E.2d 532, 537 (Ct. App. 2009) (citing *State v. Stanley*, 365 S.C. 24, 33–34, 615 S.E.2d 455, 460 (Ct. App. 2005)). Likewise, whether a party “opens the door to the admission of otherwise inadmissible evidence during the course of a trial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge.” *State v. Page*, 378 S.C. 476, 483, 663 S.E.2d 357, 360 (Ct. App. 2008).

Argument

It is error to deny a motion for a mistrial where it was absolutely necessary to correct a prejudicial error. *State v. Craig*, 267 S.C. 262, 268–69, 227 S.E.2d 306, 309–10 (1976) (quoting authority and internal punctuation omitted). “Among the factors to be considered are the character of the testimony, the circumstances under which it was offered, the nature of the case, the other testimony in the case, and perhaps other matters.” *State v. Thompson*, 276 S.C. 616, 621, 281 S.E.2d 216, 219 (1981) (citing *Craig*, 267 S.C. at 269, 227 S.E.2d at 310). *See also State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (“No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.”).

Here, the trial court's denial of Appellant's motion for a mistrial was reversible error. The denial of the motion for a mistrial was an abuse of discretion founded upon errors of law, including the trial court's improper reliance upon comparing Arleen's testimony and the officer's testimony in the first trial, which was wholly irrelevant and should not have invaded the analysis of the testimony, the circumstances under which it was offered, the nature of the case, and the other testimony in second trial. Arleen's testimony about Appellant's three prior arrests was not admissible and

was unduly prejudicial. Further, the trial court's curative instruction was insufficient to cure the error.

A. The trial court's decision to deny Appellant's motion for a mistrial was founded upon an improper basis and various errors of law.

First, the trial court's reasoning was predominately founded upon comparing and contrasting Arleen's testimony with the officer's testimony in the first trial, which had resulted in a mistrial. This improper comparative analysis is both implicit (R. p. 137, lines 7-13) and explicit in the trial judge's findings and ultimate determination on the issue:

Unlike the first time that this case was tried in front of Judge Hocker, the statement that we're dealing with here...it does not say what he was arrested for...[Arleen's testimony] is a lot less prejudicial than the initial statement from the arresting officer in the first trial about this being his third drug offense.

(R. p. 140, lines 1-11; p. 143, lines 6-8). The officer's testimony in the first trial was irrelevant to whether a mistrial was warranted in Appellant's second trial, and not only was an improper basis for the trial court's decision, but also constituted an error of law. There is no South Carolina precedent that authorizes or even suggests acceptance of the comparative analysis that the trial court conducted here. The mistrial determination is a case-by-case analysis, which specifically lists factors that consider the nature and character of the particular testimony within the particular case in which the mistrial requested. *See Thompson, supra*. Further, the "perhaps other factors" in this afore-mentioned list does not otherwise render the irrelevant officer's testimony in the first trial relevant to the mistrial determination at Appellant's retrial. The character or nature of the officer's testimony and the degree of the resulting prejudice at that trial had no bearing on whether Arleen's testimony at retrial was so prejudicial to warrant a mistrial.

The trial judge's decision is averse to the fact-specific, case-by-case standard set forth in South Carolina precedent for ruling on mistrial motions and constitutes an error of law.

The trial court's reasoning also fails to consider all the relevant enumerated factors; the trial judge gave little in his findings as to the extent of resulting prejudice relative to the facts of the case. *See Thompson, supra*. Although the trial judge specifically mentioned there were "four factors" to consider, and did list "the circumstances under which the testimony was offered" and "the character of this testimony as it relates to a potential mistrial"; several of the other significant factors, including facts unique to this constructive possession and presumptive-weight case, are completely absent from the trial court's findings. Such factors are imperative to the prejudice prong of the analysis in this case. *See infra*, pp. 15–16.

B. The resulting prejudice from Arleen's improper testimony made a mistrial necessary, and the trial court's prejudice determination was based upon an error of law. The trial court's reasoning also fails to consider all the relevant enumerated factors; the trial judge gave little in his findings as to the extent of resulting prejudice relative to the facts of the case. Although the trial judge specifically mentioned there were "four factors" to consider, and did list "the circumstances under which the testimony was offered" and "the character of this testimony as it relates to a potential mistrial"; several of the other significant factors, including facts unique to this constructive possession and presumptive-weight case, are completely absent from the trial court's findings. Such factors are imperative to the prejudice prong of the analysis in this case. *See infra*, pp. 15–16.

The trial court's reasoning as to the substance of Arleen's testimony and the degree of resulting prejudice was equally flawed as its comparative analysis. The trial court repeatedly referred to the fact that unlike the officer's testimony in the first trial, Arleen's testimony pertained to Appellant's three previous *arrests*, which the trial judge found "less prejudicial than conviction, but it's also out there to a degree", and repeatedly pointed to the fact that she had not stated what he had been arrested for. (R. p. 137, lines 18 – 20; p. 140, lines 11 – 13; p. 144, lines 20 – 22). The trial judge further explained that the unspecified three prior arrests testimony was less prejudicial because "[s]he did not say it was a narcotics arrest. It could be an assault charge, it could be whatever." (R. p. 142, line 25 — p. 143, line 2).

The trial court's reasoning overlooks the entire body of precedent that holds it is reversible error to admit testimony or evidence that implies the defendant has a prior criminal record. In *State v. Tate*, the Supreme Court reversed the defendant's convictions because his mugshot was admitted into evidence, in which the defendant wore a small board around his neck

bearing “SPTBG. CO. SHERIFF” and the date the photo was taken. 288 S.C. 104, 104–05, 341 S.E.2d 380, 381 (1986). The Supreme Court reasoned “the markings on the photographs, particularly the date, which was almost one year prior to the trial of this case, would clearly infer to the jury that [the defendant] had a prior criminal record.” *Id.* at 105–06. More recently in *State v. Lawson*, this Court reversed the defendant’s conviction due to improper testimony regarding the defendant’s fingerprint card being taken at Kirkland Correctional institution in 2003, more than a decade before the commission of the crimes on trial. 424 S.C. 51, 60–63, 817 S.E.2d 509, 513–15 (Ct. App. 2018), *reh’g denied*, Aug. 16, 2018. This Court reasoned the “temporal clarification excluded any possibility the jury would conclude [the defendant’s] time at Kirkland was related to the crime for which he was on trial.” *Id.* at 60–61, 817 S.E.2d at 514.

Contrary to the trial court’s reasoning, the Supreme Court held the admission of the defendant’s photo in *Tate* to be reversible error even though the improper evidence pertained to merely an arrest, rather than an official conviction. Moreover, Arleen’s improper testimony was of a similar nature and carried the same degree of prejudice as the mugshot in *Tate* and the testimony in *Lawson* because just like in those cases, Arleen’s testimony specifically referred to Appellant’s three *previous* arrests. The temporal detail in Arleen’s testimony clearly implied Appellant had a prior criminal record and excluded any possibility the jury could have inferred

the testimony as relating to the offenses the Appellant faced at trial. *Cf. State v. Thompson*, 352 S.C. 552, 561, 575 S.E.2d 77, 82 (Ct. App. 2003) (finding an officer’s testimony that the defendant “had warrants” was not reversible error because the jury could have understood the reference as relating to the warrants for the crimes for which the defendant was on trial instead of some prior bad act); *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 12–13, 515 S.E.2d 508, 513–14, n.7 (1999)

(holding a SLED agent’s testimony about matching the defendant’s fingerprints with a set on file

testimony in *Lawson* because just like in those cases, Arleen’s testimony specifically referred to

in "SLED records" was not reversible error because it was "questionable whether the jury even understood the implication" of the defendant's prior record and there was no indication as to when SLED had obtained the fingerprints); *State v. Miller*, 258 S.C. 573, 576, 190 S.E.2d 23, 25 (Ct. App. 1972). The trial court also erred in concluding that Arleen's response was relatively less prejudicial because she did not specify what offenses Appellant had been arrested for on those three previous occasions. Arleen's lack of specificity is of no consequence because in both *Tate* and *Lawson*, the improperly admitted evidence or testimony also gave no hint as to what specific charge either defendant had been previously arrested for. *See also Geter v. State*, 305 S.C. 365, 367, 409 S.E.2d 344, 345 (1991) ("[E]vidence that petitioner was previously jailed on unspecified charges was not admissible under any exception.") (italics added). Further, Arleen's testimony about Appellant's criminal arrests on three previous occasions was neither vague due to the language she used nor was the resulting implication speculative. *Cf. State v. Beckham*, 334 S.C. 302, 309-10, 513 S.E.2d 606, 609-10 (1999) (references to the victim's past visit to a provider of services to domestic abuse victims was too vague and speculative to inject the prejudicial issue of spousal abuse into the case; the jury could have equally inferred that the victim was a volunteer); *Council*, 335 S.C. at 12-13, 515 S.E.2d at 513-14, n.7; *State v. Singleton*, 284 S.C. 388, 392, 326 S.E.2d 153, 156 (1985).

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