STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Nov 18 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Greenwood County
The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

vs.

DAZELLE SMITH,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2018-000952

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

P. O. Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29649-0516
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion for mistrial and instead providing an extensive curative instruction for testimony elicited by Appellant's counsel.

Appellant complains the trial court should have granted a mistrial for testimony from Appellant's Aunt that Appellant's counsel elicited on cross-examination. However, as shown below, the trial court did not abuse its discretion and provided an extensive and stern curative instruction. During cross-examination, Appellant's counsel emphasized the car Appellant sat in was registered in Aunt's name and it was parked in front of her house. R. pp. 133-34. The following testimony elicited by counsel led to counsel's objection:

Q: And you never have told anybody – anybody anything about any drugs in that car until the police came to you in . . . January of 2018; isn't that right?

A: No, I didn't – I didn't say nothing about no drugs, because I didn't know what was in that car.

Q: But it was your car?

A: It was my car.

Q: It was your car –

A: It was in my name, but [Appellant] drove –

Q: It was your car parked in front of your house?

A: Huh-uh. [Appellant] in that car almost – he was living out of that car all the time. Long before they got him on Tanyard. He been arrested on Tanyard three times.

R. p. 134, line 20 – p. 135, line 7.

Counsel asked to approach the bench, the trial court sent the jury out, and counsel moved for a mistrial. The mistrial motion was denied and the trial court provided the following curative instruction:

Additionally ladies and gentlemen, before we took a break the witness in this case testified about her supposed knowledge of the Defendant having been arrested previously. Understand, ladies and gentlemen, that, of course, an arrest is not a conviction in any sense of the word, and certainly that testimony cannot be considered by you as evidence of any kind in this particular case. I'm telling you that you are to excise that testimony from your mind, because it's not relevant to any issue involved in this case. As a practical matter, as you might very well be aware, many, many, many times, sometimes better than half the time, arrests end up in dismissal because there's simply no evidence to move forward, and that's why an arrest cannot be held against anyone, and you are specifically instructed that you cannot hold that testimony, you cannot consider that testimony in any way, shape or form as it relates to any issue involved in this particular case. Okay? So that is to be excised from your mind. You are to forget about it. You cannot discuss it or even think about it further. All right?

R. p. 158, lines 1-20.

In denying the motion for mistrial, the trial court observed:

And again, the Court has to take into account the circumstances under which testimony is offered. I can see where her response is responsive to the implication that's being put out there by the question. It was your car parked in front of your house, ergo, it was your dope. That was clearly the implication of that line of questioning. As I said earlier, I saw her reaction. The stuttering manner in which she gives her answer indicated to me that she was quite defensive about the suggestion that she was the one in ownership of these drugs. Along those lines, it's to be expected that being defensive, assuming they're not her drugs, she is coming out swinging.

R. p. 143, lines 9-21.

"A mistrial should not be granted except in cases of manifest necessity and ought to be

granted with the greatest caution for very plain and obvious reasons.” State v. Wasson, 299 S.C. 508, 386 S.E.2d 255 (1989) *cited in* State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 522 S.E.2d 845 (Ct. App. 1999) (noting trial judge should exhaust other methods to cure possible prejudice before aborting a trial). “The granting of a mistrial motion is an extreme measure to be taken only where an incident is so grievous that its prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way.” State v. Dempsey, 340 S.C. 565, 570, 532 S.E.2d 306, 309 (Ct. App. 2000).

An appropriate curative instruction is generally considered to cure any error. State v. Dawkins, 297 S.C. 386, 377 S.E.2d 298 (1989); *see* State v. Howard, 296 S.C. 481, 483-85, 374 S.E.2d 284, 285-86 (1988) (finding curative instruction admonishing the jury to disregard co-defendant’s inadmissible testimony that murder defendant was involved in an earlier homicide was sufficient to cure error and mistrial was not warranted); State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 561, 575 S.E.2d 77, 82 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] vague reference to a defendant’s prior [crimes] is not sufficient to justify a mistrial where there is no attempt by the State to introduce evidence that the accused has been convicted of other crimes.”).

The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial judge and will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. State v. Crim, 327 S.C. 254, 257, 489 S.E.2d 478, 479 (1997). Our courts favor the exercise of wide discretion of the trial judge in determining the merits of such motion in each individual case. Howard, 296 S.C. at 483, 374 S.E.2d at 285 (1988).

In the instant case, Appellant’s counsel was trying to insinuate with the questioning that the drugs could be Aunt’s drugs, not Appellant’s drugs, because it was Aunt’s vehicle. Counsel was not dissuaded by her testimony that while the car title was in her name, she never stepped foot in the car.

Instead, Appellant's counsel endeavored to say it was her car parked in front of her house as many times as possible. Aunt naturally became defensive by the implication that she was responsible for the drugs. However, the trial court gave an extensive curative instruction. The actual testimony itself was a vague reference to prior incidents and the prosecution did not make any references to the supposed arrests. Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial.

II.

Because Appellant did not object to the officer testifying about the street value of narcotics, the issue of whether the officer needed to be qualified as an expert to testify about the value of narcotics is not preserved for review. The prosecution moved to qualify the officer as an expert in illicit narcotics, defense counsel objected without stating grounds, the trial court said the officer may provide the testimony without being qualified as an expert, and defense counsel thanked the trial court. Further, the officer had the requisite knowledge to provide the street value of the narcotics seized and Appellant was not prejudiced by the alleged error.

Appellant claims Officer Whitfield Brooks testified over Appellant's objection, but that is not accurate. Appellant objected to Officer Brooks being qualified as an expert witness and the trial court then told the prosecutor Officer Brooks did not need to be qualified as a witness. In response, Appellant's counsel thanked the trial court. R. p. 219, lines 6-21. Counsel never stated grounds for the objection, and counsel did not object to testimony about the value of the narcotics. So no issue is preserved for review.

Officer Brooks testified he has eleven years' experience as a law enforcement officer and he was in the narcotics division for three years. He was tasked with investigating drug distribution and drug trafficking cases. His training includes both basic and advanced narcotics investigation. He investigates drug distribution and trafficking cases targeting drug dealers. Part of his duties included his involvement in numerous controlled buys, which resulted in him being familiar with the going rate for illicit drugs. His work in the narcotics division made him familiar with the street value of cocaine, crack cocaine, and marijuana. Officer Brooks did not have any involvement in the investigation of the instant case. R. pp. 218-19.

When the prosecution moved to qualify Officer Brooks as an expert in illicit narcotic sales,

defense counsel objected without stating any grounds for the objection. The trial court responded:

All right, I don't know that this is necessarily an area where one would need to testify as an expert. I think that he could probably testify based upon his own personal experience in his involvement with other cases what the value of the drugs are, if that's what you're getting at, Solicitor?

R. p. 219, lines 10-15. The prosecutor agreed he was intending to elicit testimony on the value of the seized drugs, and the trial court responded, "I think that's a matter of common experience based upon his background in this area. So I don't know that he needs to be qualified as an expert." R. p. 219, lines 17-19. The prosecutor accepted the trial court's ruling and defense counsel responded, "Thank you, Your Honor." R. p. 219, lines 17-21. Officer Brooks proceeded to testify as to the street value of the narcotics without any objection from counsel. R. pp. 219-20.

The argument is not preserved for review. The failure to object when evidence is offered constitutes a waiver of the right to raise the issue on appeal. State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 42, 479 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1996). Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments. I'On v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). Counsel never objected to the officer's testimony and never complained he could not provide lay witness testimony about the value of the narcotics. Instead, counsel only objected to Officer Brooks being qualified as a witness, and the trial court, in effect, sustained his objection. State v. Sinclair, 275 S.C. 608, 610, 274 S.E.2d 411, 412 (1981) (holding where one party obtains from the trial court the only relief sought, this Court has no issue to review on appeal).

Further, Officer Brooks was qualified to provide an opinion on the value of narcotics from experience. "A witness may be competent to testify as an expert although the witness acquired his

or her knowledge through practical experience **and not by scientific study, training, or research.**” Honea v. Prior, 295 S.C. 526, 530, 369 S.E.2d 846, 849 (Ct. App. 1988) (emphasis added). In the instant case, Officer Brooks was qualified to provide an opinion on the value of narcotics, but the trial court found it was unnecessary to qualify him as a witness. See State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 464, 469 S.E.2d 49, 54 (1996) (“Some statements are not mere opinions, but are impressions drawn from collected, observed facts.”). Ultimately, whether a lay witness or expert witness, Officer Brooks, based on his experience, possessed sufficient knowledge to provide the street value of narcotics.

“The relevance, materiality, and admissibility of evidence are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court and a ruling will be disturbed only upon a showing of an abuse of discretion.” State v. Shuler, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Officer Brooks possessed the requisite experience to provide a lay opinion on the street value of the seized narcotics.

Finally, the testimony was not unfairly prejudicial and any error was harmless. “To show prejudice, there must be a reasonable probability that the jury’s verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence.” State v. Lee, 399 S.C. 521, 527, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012). The “materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003). Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 194, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990). Because the street value of the seized narcotics was not an element of the offense or central to the State’s case, and because of the overwhelming evidence of guilt, any conceivable error was harmless.

III.

The trial court did not err in denying the motion to suppress seized illegal drugs from Appellant's vehicle because when officers approached the vehicle to notify Appellant his vehicle was illegally parked, the officers smelled marijuana from ten feet away from the vehicle and subsequently saw marijuana in plain view inside Appellant's vehicle.

Appellant seeks for this Court to reverse the trial court's denial of Appellant's motion to suppress because of purported conflicting testimony from the officers. This ignores the proper standard of review. Because Appellant was illegally parked and law enforcement officers smelled, then saw, illegal narcotics when they approached Appellant's vehicle to request him to move it, the trial court did not err in denying the motion to suppress the seized narcotics.

As a preliminary matter, Appellant relies on the transcript of a suppression motion made during the first trial that ended in a mistrial before Judge Hocker. The record fails to indicate that a transcript of this proceeding was provided to Judge Addy.¹ Prior to trial on April 9, 2018, defense counsel moved to suppress the drugs seized, and told Judge Addy, "And I know this Court is familiar with the case, and I'd ask the Court to look at – at his Fourth and Sixth Amendment violations that might have taken place. And I understand the Court will look at that and rule accordingly as the trial goes on." R. p. 112, lines 7-13.

Judge Addy responded, "Just so that the record is clear, we did have a brief discussion and the intention is to handle it the same way that we did previously in January and a motion has been made at the close of the State's case if insufficient evidence or testimony exists as it relates to those

¹ At the suppression hearing before Judge Hocker, defense counsel claimed the testimony was inconsistent and Judge Hocker disagreed, finding, "I believe their testimony. All three officers, were pretty consistent." R. p. 77, lines 23-24.

two issues, then the Court will act appropriately and you'll be protected for the record, Mr. Yarborough." R. p.222, lines 14-22. Subsequently, defense counsel raised a motion to suppress the drugs at the close of the State's evidence and the trial court denied the motion. R. pp. 222-23. However, the record does not indicate that Judge Addy had the transcript of the mistrial before him when he ruled on the suppression motion. Rule 210(c) ("The Record shall not, however, include matter which was not presented to the lower court or tribunal"); "Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review." Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006); I'On v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) ("Imposing preservation requirements on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments") (emphasis added); State v. White, 372 S.C. 364, 642 S.E.2d 607 (Ct. App. 2007) (excluding post-trial "Morris" letter not presented to the circuit court). Since the transcript of the pretrial hearing from Appellant's mistrial was not presented to Judge Addy, the transcript should not be considered in reviewing Judge Addy's ruling. State v. Morgan, 282 S.C. 409,412, 319 S.E.2d 335, 337 (1984) ("In as much as the trial judge had no opportunity to pass upon the issue, the question will not be considered on appeal."). Further, a mistrial is the equivalent of no trial, therefore evidentiary rulings do not carry forward to a future trial. State v. Smith, 336 S.C. 39, 43-44, 518 S.E.2d 294, 296 (Ct. App. 1999). "A mistrial is the equivalent of no trial and leaves the cause pending in the [trial] court." State v. Woods, 382 S.C. 153, 158, 676 S.E.2d 128, 131 (2009).

Standard of review

"South Carolina appellate courts review Fourth Amendment determinations under a clear

error standard.” State v. Provet, 405 S.C. 101, 107, 747 S.E.2d 453, 456 (2013). “When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.” State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 326 (2011).

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